Common | Gerardo C. Ablaza Filipino Direct 5 0,000
Common | Reynaldo B. Vea Filipino Dhirect 5 .02
Common | Alfredo Antonio I. Avala Filipino Dhirect 5 0. 0000%
Common | Lorenzo V. Tan Filipino Direct § 0.0000%
Common Willlam H. Dtl.i.ECI' Swiss Indirect 5 0. HH) 2
Common | Medel T, Nera Filipino Direct | EiE] 0,000
Common | ¥Yvonne 5. Yuchengzeo Filipino Direct 6,500 0. 00065

Indirect 92000 D008 %
Sub-Total 168,775 0162 %
Total Common Shares 1044 263,197 10N e

Item 12 — Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

There 1= no director, executive officer, nominee for director, beneficial holder. or any family member involved
in any business transaction with 1People.

in the normal conduct of business, aside from transactions disclosed in audited financial statements, other
tramsactions with certain affiliates include shaning in zeneral and administrative expenses and cash advances.

PART IV — CORFORATE GOVERMNANCE

Item 13 — Corporate Governance

{a} Evaluation Svstem to Measure Compliance with the Manual on Corporate Governance

The Company has monitored its compliance with Securities and Exchanee Commission (SEC) Memorandum
Circulars, pursuant to 1tz Manual on Corporate Governance, has complhied with the leadime practices and
prmciples on good corporate governance and appropriate sclf-rating asses=ment and performance evaluation
to determine and measure its compliance.

In complianee with SEC Memorandum Circular Mo, 20 dated December £, 2016, the Company has submitted
its Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report (LACGR), for the penod covening the year 2022, last
May 16, 2023, within the penod allowed by the SEC. For the pertod coverme the year 2023, the Company
will submit its LACGR on or before May 30, 2024,

{b) Measures Undertaken to Fully Comply with Leading Practices on Corporate Governance

In 1is ITACGHR, the Company has substantially complicd with of the provisions and recommendations in the
Mew Manual en Corporate Governance.

{¢) Deviation from the Manual on Corporate Governance

Except for a fow recommendations in the Manual on Corporate Governance which the Company failed 1o
comply (based on the “comply or explain™ policy of SEC) the Company committed to comply with the same
in 2024, Said compliance will be reflected in the 2023 IACGR due on May 30, 2024,

{d) Plans to Improve Corporate Governance

In order to improve the Company’s adherence to the leading practices in good corporate governance as
reflected im 1ts Manual on Corporate Governance, the Company’s [hrectors and top Management
continuously attend the annual seminar on Corporate Governance conducted by an entity accredited with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. Further, the Company continwously monitors all relevant PSE and
SEC Circulars on Corporate Governance that maybe used to improve compliance with the Manual on
Corporate Governance.



PART V - EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES

Item [4 - Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form 17-C

January 31, 2022
» Resignation of Mr. Renato C. Valencia as Chairman of 1People, ine.

April 04, 2022

» Confirmation of the Approval of Audit Committee of the 202] Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements of iPeople, inc. and its Subsidiaries.

e Declaration of a Cash Dividend of Php 0.16 per common share, or a total amount of Php
167,082, 218.00 from the Company’s unrestricted retained earnings as of December 31, 2021,
to all stockholders of record as of Apnl 29, 2022, Payment date 1s on or before May 20, 2022,
Approval of the 2021 Sustainability Report of iPeople. inc.

=« Approval of the 2021 Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report (IACGR) of iPeople.

IMC.

» Approval of the Date of Annual Stockholders Meeting

May 17, 2022
= Approval of First Quarter Consolidation Report (SEC 17Q)).

July 249, 1022

Approval of Second Quarter Consolidation Report {(SEC 170)).

Approval of 2021 audited consolidated financial statements of iPeople and its subsidiaries.
Election of the Board of Directors of the Company for 2022-2023.

Re-appointment of 3GV & Co. as external auditors for the fiscal vear ending 2023,
Amendments to Sections 1, 2, 4, 5 and 6 of Article I, Sections 2, 3,5, 7, 8. @ and 10 of
Article 11, Sections 11 and 12 of Article 111, Section 2 of Article 1V, Sections | to & of Article
V. and Section | of Article X of the iPeople, inc.'s By-Laws

" % 8 @ ®

December I, 2022

» Approval of Third Quarter Consohdation Report (SEC 17()).

» Approval of the Merger of iPeople subsidianes. National Teachers College (NTC) and
Affordable Private Education Center (APEC) Schools with NTC as the surviving entity

» Change in iPeople’s corporate address from the 3rd Floor Grepalife Building, 219 Sen. Gil
Puyat Ave.. Makati City 1200, Metro Manila, Philippines to the Bth Floor Mapua University
Makati Campus, 1191 Pablo Ocampo Sr. Extension Ave.. Brgy. Sta Cruz, Makati City 1205,
Metro Manila, Philippines

February 20, 2023

e Collaboration between MAPUA Schools and Anzona State University to introduce
breakthrough offering in experiential global education:

March 31, 2023
« Approval of the 2022 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of iPeople, inc. and its
Subsidiaries.
» Declaration of a Cash Dividend of Php 0.19 per common share. or a total amount of
Phpl98.410,015.98 from the Company’s unrestricted retained earnings as of December 31,

2022, to all stockholders of record as of Apnil 28, 2023, Payment date is on or before May 19,
2023

» Approval of the 2022 Sustainability Report of iPeople, me.
» Approval of the 2022 Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report (IACGR) of iPeople.

Inc.
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» Approval of the Date of the 2023 Annual Stockholders Meeting

May 12, 2023
» Approval of First Quarter Consolidation Report (SEC 170)).

June 5, 2023

« Approval by the SEC issued May 31, 2023 of Amendments to Sections 1,2, 4, 5 and 6 of Article
l. Sections 2, 3, 5. 7, B, 9 and 10 of Article 11, Sections 11 and 12 of Article 111, Section 2 of
Artiele IV, Sections | to 8 of Article V, and Section | of Article X of iPeople, inc.'s By-Laws.

July 28, 2013
Approval of Second Quarter Consolidation Report (SEC 170)).

Approval of 2022 audited consolidated financial statements of iPeople and its subsidianies.
Election of the Board of Directors of the Company for 2023-2024.

Re-appointment of 3GV & Co. as external auditors for the fiscal vear ending 2024,
Amendment to Section 8 of Article Il of iPeople, inc.'s By-Laws

- & & 8 ®

August 4, 2023
» Resignation of Ms. Herminia 5. Jacinto as Independent Director of iPeople. inc.

August 15, 2023

» Election of Mr. William H. Ottiger as Independent Director of iPeople, inc., to replace Ms.
Herminia 5. Jacinto who resigned effective August 4, 2023,

September 5, 2023

» Approval by the SEC issued August 30, 2023 of the Certificate of Filing of the Articles and
Plan of Merger of iPeople subsidiaries National Teachers College (NTC) and Affordable
Private Education Center, Inc. (APEC Schools).

Movember 17, 2023
= Approval of Third (Juarter Consolidation Report (SEC 17()).

Movember 29, 2023

» Change in Stock Transfer Agent from RCBC to RCBC Trust Corporation, effective March 27,
2024

January 23, 2024

e Appommtment of Mr. Narciso A. Laput as Vice President - Information Technology of the
Company.

April 5, 2024

« Approval of the 2023 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of iPeople, inc. and its
Subsidiaries.

#» Declaration of a Cash Dividend of Php 0.19 per common share, or a total amount of
Phpl98.410,015.98 from the Company's unrestricted retained earnings as of December 31,
2023, to all stockholders of record as of May 3, 2024. Payment date is on or before May 24,
2024,

» Approval of the 2023 Sustainability Report of iPeople, me.

» Approval of the 2023 Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report (IACGR) of iPeople,

Imc.

Approval of the Date of the 2024 Annual Stockholders Meeting

3l



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 17 of the Securities Regulation Code and the Revised
Corporation Code, this report is signed on behalf of the issuer by the undersigned, thereto duly
authorzed, in the City of Makati on , 2024,
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DH. REYNALDD B, VEA
Chasrman and Chief Executive Officer

H o

GEMA Q. CHENG

EVP and Chicf Finance Officer 0 U
JONATHAN M. LOPEZL /
Controller !u Ilr

ATTY. SAMUEL V., TORRES
Corporate Secretary

B

o e

apR 2 6 104
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORHN to before me this day of April 2024, at Makati City.
Affiants exhibited to me their proof of identification as indicated heside each name.

Names Document No, ‘Date & Place of Issue/Expiration
Reynaldo B. Vea Passport#P2200684C 10-28-2022 Manila City / 10-27-2032
 Gema O, Cheng DLAN6-84-036923 12-05-2022 Mandaluyong / 12-08-2032
Jonathan M. Lopez DIﬁNDI—fll:ﬂﬂ_] 324 05072019 Imus Cavite [ (5-07-2024
Atty. Samuel V. Torrcs PassportdP2022842C 10-14-2022 Manila City / 10-13-2032
Doc. No. ﬂ ! -
Page No. ; GEL FERRER FLORES
Book No RIOTARY PUELIC for akatl
- ! W Desembaniad, 2004
Series of 2034 p (2009 2034)
FT i 77 G T PEadT ek Oty

gl P T

MCLE Compdones Wil 1o, L
L || rgr SRile T I SR

U TrE0E s Peslg City
L1 DD - paee
5 | L, Wiokali City




Sylip Gores Velayo & Lo Tl (B32] 881 030
A76D LAvala Avmnup Fam: (GAF: 881204872
U228 Madali Ciby By oomiph

Bluilding a bether Prilippines
wWarsing workd

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

The Stoeckholders and the Board of Directors
iPeople, inc.

8th Floor Mapua University Makati Campus
1191 Pable Ocampo Sr. Extension Ave,
Brey. Sta, Croz, Makati City, Metrmo Manila

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of iPeople, inc, and its subsidiaries (the Group),
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consohidated statements of changes in cquity and
consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the peried ended December 31, 2023,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, incleding material accounting policy information,

[n eur opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fRirly, in all matenal respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2023 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing {(PSAs). Our
responsibilitics under those standards are further described in the duditor s Responsibilities for the Awdit
af the Consolidated Fingncial Statements section of our report. W are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (the Code of Ethics)
together with the ethical requirements that ane relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have tulfilled the responsibilities described in the duditor s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Conselidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our aud:t
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matiers below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

IS AR AT
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Faduarion of Land

The Group accounts for its land, where the school buildings and other facilities are located, using the
revaluation model. As at December 31, 2023, the carrying value of the Group's land amounted to

B9 719.0 million, representing 49% of the Group’'s total assets. The determination of the fair values of
these properties involves significant management judgment and estimations. The valuation also requires
the assistance of external appraisers whose calculations involve certain assumptions, such as sales price of
similar propertics and adjustments to sales price based on internal and external factors, Thus, we
considered the valuation of land as a key asdit matter.

Refer i Motes 3 and 11 to the consolidaed lnancial statements for the disclosures on land at revaloed
amount.

Audit response

We reviewad the scope, bases, methodology and results of the work done by the Group's external
appraisers whose professional qualifications, competence, capabilities, and objectivity were also faken
into consideration. We compared the relevant information supporting the sales price of similar propertics
and the adjustments made o the sales price against real estate indpstry dota, We also reviewed the
Croup’s disclosures with respect to the fair value of the land,

Recoverability of Nonfinancial Assers

Under PFRSs, the Group is required to annually test for impairment goodwill and nonfinancial assets with
indefinite useful life and for those nonfinancial assets with finite useful life, if there are indicators of
impairment such as significant decline in enrollment. The Group has goodwill attributable to the
acquisition of Malayan Education System, Inc. amounting to #1378 million, intellectual property rights
with indefinite life amounting to #458.1 million, and property and equipment and right-of-use assets of a
subsidiary aggregating to P376.7 million as of December 31, 2023 that were tested for impairment. These
nonfinancial assets are considered significant to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
management’s assessment process involves judgments and is based on assumptions which are subject to
higher level of estimation uncertainty, specifically assumptions used in estimating discounted cash flow
projections such as forecasted revenues, long-term growth rates, royalty rates, and discount rates.

The Group’s disclosures aboul nonfinancial assets are included in Notes 5, 6, 10, 12 and 31 to the
consolidated financial statements,

Arightt response

We involved our internal specialist in evaluating the methodology and assumptions vsed, We obtamed an
understanding of the Group's impairment model and the assumptions on the key business drivers of the
cash flow forecasts such as the revenue from number of forecasted students and related tuition and other
matriculation fees and compared them against historical performance. 'We compared the fong-term
growth rates and royalty rates against relevant published market information. We also tested the
parameters used in the determination of discount rates against market data. In addtion. we reviewed the
Grroup’s disclosures about those assumptions to which the outcome of the impairment tests 15 most
sensitive, that is, those that have the most significant effect on the determination of the recoverable
amount of these assets.

IS AR AT
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Adequacy of Allowance for Expected Credit Loss (ECL)

The Group applies simplified approach in calculating expected credit loss (ECL). Under this approach,
the Group generally establishes a provision matrix that 15 based on its historical credit loss experience and
adjusted for forwand-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment, Allowance
for ECL and the provision for ECL on receivables from tuition and other fees as of and for the vear ended
December 31, 2023 amounted 1o #3738 million and 843,9 million, respectively,

The Group’s calculation of allowance for ECL is significant to our audit as it involves the exercise of
significant management judgment. Key areas of judgment include: segmenting the Group's credit risk
exposures; defining default; determining assumptions to be used in the ECL model such as the expected
life of the financial asset and timing and amount of expected net recoveries from defaulted accounts; and
incomporating forward-looking information (called overlays) in ealeulating ECL.

The disclosures on the allowanee for ECL are included in Notes 5 and 8 o the consolidated fnancial
stabements,

Audit response

We updated our understanding of the approved methodology and assumptions used for the Group’s
different credit exposures and reassessed whether these considered the reguirements of PFRS 9 to reflect
an unbiased and probability-weighted outcome and the best available forward-looking information.

We (a) assessed the Group’s segmentation of i1s credit fsk exposures based on homogeneity of credit risk
characteristics; (b) compared the definition of default against historical analysis of accounts and credit
risk management policies and practices in place; (¢) tested historical loss rates by inspecting historical
recoveries and write-offs; (d) verified the appropriateness of classification of outstanding exposures 1o
their comresponding aging buckets; and {e) evaluated the forward-locking information used for overlay
throueh statistical test and corroboration using publicly available information and our understanding of
the Group’s receivable portfolios and industry practices,

Further, we checked the data used in the ECL models, such as the historical aging analysis of defaults and
recovery data, by reconciling data from source system reports to the database and from the database to the
loss allowance analysis/models and financial reporting system. To the extent that the loss allowance
analysis is based on credit exposures that have been disaggregated into subsets with similar risk
characteristics, we traced or re-performed the disaggregation from source reports to the loss allowance
analysis.

We recalculated the imparrment provisions, We checked the disclosures made in the Timanecial statements
om allowance for ECL by tracing such disclosures (o the ECL analvsis prepared by management,

rther Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
ingluded in the SEC Form 20-15 { Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report
for the vear ended December 31, 2023, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor's report thereon. The SEC Form 20-1S { Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and
Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2023 are expected to be made available to us after the
date of this auditor’s report.
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Char opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon,

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements. our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audits, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such intermal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated Anancial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ahility to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concem basis of accounting unless management either intends w Liquidate the Group or o
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with povermance are responsible for overseang the Group’s financial reporting process,
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Owr objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

Ag part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

s [dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due 1o fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from frawd is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control,

= (btain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

s Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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o  Conclude on the appropristeness of management’s wse of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
omn the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncerainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast sienificant doubt on the Group®s ability W continue as a going concerm.  [Dwe conelude that a
material uncertainty cxists, we are required to draw aticntion in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, il such disclosures are inadequate, to modify oor
opirion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group (o cease (o confinig as 4 going concem.

s [Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves Tair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group 1o express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit, We remain solely responsible for
o aud it opinion,

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
riming of the audit and significant audit findings, including anv significant deficiencies in imemal control that
we tdentify during our mudit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requircments regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
miay reasonably be thought 1o bear on our independence, and where applicable. refated safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor”s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matier or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would regsonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ana Lea C. Bergado.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYD & CO.

Ana Lea C. Bergado

Fartner

CPA Certificate Mo, B047(

Tax Identification No. [02-082-670

BOA/PRC Reg. No. (W, August 25, 2021, valid until April 15, 2024

BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-063-2023, September 12, 2023, valid until September 11, 2026
PTR No. 10079908, Januwary 5, 2024, Makati City

April 5, 2024
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of iPeople, ine. & Subsidiaries is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements including the schedules attached therein, for the years ended December 31, 2023,
2022 and 2021, in accordance with the prescribed financial reporting framework indicated therein, and for
such intemal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statemenis that are frce from matenial misstatement, whether due 1o fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue a5 a going concern, disclosing, as applicable matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management cither intends to liquidate the Company of to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the lnarcial statements including the schedules attached
therein, and submits the same to the stockholders or members,

SvCip, Gorres, Velayo & Co., the independent auditor appointed by the stockholders, has audited the
finencial statements of the company in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, and n its report
1o the stockholders or members, has expressed its opinion on the faimess of presentation upon completion
of such audit

Fom_
¥MA B. VEA

irman and Chief Executive Officer

ALFRE : “AYALA
President and Chief Operating Officer
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iIPEOPLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Amounts in Thousands)

Deceniber 31
2023 2002
ASSETS
Current Assels
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 7, |5 and 30) P1.BOT, 164 P1.961,428
Receivables (Motes & and 30) 1,379,633 1,176,224
Receivables from rejated parties (Nodes |5 and 30) 1,643 1,825
Prepaid expenses and ather current assets (Note 9) 607,049 464,937
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FYTPL)
[Mote 30] 9,767 %332
Tixal Current Asscis 3,805,256 3,613,750
Noncurrent Asscis
Property and equipment ol cost (MNote 10) 5,331,603 5,208,590
Land ai revalued amounts (Notes 10 and 11) 9 T1%,03% T5TR 412
Intellectual property rights (Note &) 438,111 400,882
Caoodwill (Motes & and 12) 151,326 151,326
Student relationship (MNode 6) G032 10,759
Right-of-use assels (Note 31) 335013 376,794
Mel pension assels {Nole 25) 20,139 38,701
Deferred tax assets - net (Note 23) 48,508 37,524
Other noncurrent assets (Note 137 B9.280 104,754
Toial Noncurreni Asseis 16,159,051 14,087,742
P149.964.307 PI7,7G) 492
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current lisbilities (Motes 14 and 300 F1.179.730 1099 637
Short-term loans (Motes 16 and 30) 1,00, 00 -
Current portion of long-term debt (Mote | 7) 32,54 1,521 448
Uneamed income (Maote 14) 978,261 796,164
Lease liabilitics - current portion (Mole 31 37,47 51,0005
Income tax payable 19,719 5228
Payables to related parties (Wotes 15 and 30) 8,706 16,797
Dividends payable (Motes 18 and 30% 924 26,154
Total Current Liabilities 3,256,961 3.5316,430
Moncurrent Linbilitics
Long-term loans (Mate 17) 293,351 134 568
Lease liabilities - net of curment portion {MNode 31) 354,549 378,630
Met pension labdlities {Maole 25) 162,452 12981
Dieferred tax Diubilithes - net {Note 23) 794,852 590,311
Chber nongurrent babihities (MNote 31) 17,114 11,544
Toinl Moncwrrent Ligbilitics 1,622 818 | 448 Bt
Total Liabilities 4,879,779 4,961,294

{Forward)



December 31
2023 2022
Equity
Comimon stock (Notes 6 and 18) P1.044.263 P14, 263
Additional paid-in capital (Note 6) 3.294 368 3.294 368
Oither comprehenzive income (loss):
Revaluation increment on land - net (Note 1) 4,516,945 2,603,159
Remeasurement gains (losses) on defined benefit plans
(Note 25) (32,649) 11,099
Equity reserve (Mote &) (230,494) (230,494
Retained eamnings (Note 18) B, 165,650 5,719,050
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company 14,758,083 12,441 445
Non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries (Note 27) 326,445 298,753
Total Equity 15,084,528 12,740,198
P19,964,307 #17.701,492

See occomponiing Nodes o Consalidated Financial Sialemernis



iIPEOPLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
{Amounts in Thousands)

Years Ended December 31
2023 2032 021
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
{ole [9)
Revenue from schools and related operations [ ) P 3,044 946 3151067
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of schoals and related operntions (Mote 20) (2,758,087) [2.159,172) (2,914,579
GROSS FROFIT 1, 733330 1,685,774 236 488
CENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES (Mote 21) (9T60TTH {B61,012) {718,500
INTEREST AND OTHER FINANCE CHARGES (MNote 17) (149,024) {113,293} {121,435
INTEREST INCOME {Mote 23y B3 4EE FLER b 6,192
OTHER INCOME (CHARGES) - Met (Mote 11§ 35,320 45,380 3,670
INCOME BEFOHRE INCOME TaX T07 04 T, 054 6dl 404
BENEFIT FROM (PROVISION FOR) INCOME TAX (Note 23) {45.035) 5,148 10,378
NET INCOME 62,011 T2 |02 663, TED
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME | LEVSE)
{her comprehenyive income (Tors) not i be reclassified to profil or
fowce far subreguren perindy:
Revaluation increment on land - et of tax {Mote 1) 1,936,065 LI SR 201,075
Eemessurement grins (losses) on defined benefit plans - net of
tax {Pooge 25) (44.5961) 2,000 b7 EXY
Reversal of deferved tax labilsty on revaluation increment due 1o
change in tas mic - - N
188104 1,030,065 276,566
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME PL 5431 055 BRI O06E W-lkl-l.'ii
Met income attributable to;
Equity holders of the parent (Mote 26) P645,325 P69, 302 PE59, | 08
Mon-controlling intercst in consolidated subsidiaries (Mate 27) I 686 12 500 4681
P662,011 P82, 102 Pib3, TH
Total comprehensive income aimbotable 1o;
Equity holders of the paren! ¥1,515,363 B1,764,746 B929.611
Morsconirolling interest i consolidated ssbsidiaries (Mo 27 17691 48 322 |0.R44
P2,543,055 PI 813 06K PO40.455
Basic/ Dilisted !’.u‘nhlh Per Share (Mole 263 Fil.a180 PO. 7367 POA3L

Ser accompanying Notez fe Conxolidared Fimancin! Surtemmems,

AR A A
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iPEOFPLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Amounts in Thousands)

Years Ended Decemboer 31

023 2023 2021
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax PHOT. 046 P776,954 Bo33.414
Adpsmenis for:
Pepreciation and amortization
(Mot 200 S0T.327 475,307 456,685
[merest expense and other finance charges
Motz 22) 152,007 115,664 140,945
Provizion for doubtfil sccounts (Notes § and 21) 43,997 120,408 114229
Interest income (Note 22) (63,488 (20, 105 f6,192]
Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) - et 406 H35 {450}
Unrealized market gain (loss) on [inancial assets
al FVWTPL {435) (119} 493
Reversal of impainment on fund (Note 11) = = (§5.763)
Operating income before working capital changes 1,346,860 1,468,748 1,323,364
Decrease (increase) in:
Receivables (247,265) (263, 704) (110,641)
Prepaid expenses and other curren! assets (142,112) {73.916) (1204186}
Increase (decrease) im:
Accouns payable and other cumrent liabilities 67,649 63,520 (100017
Unearned income 182,048 137.71% {22, 18%)
Other nopcurrent labilitses 30458 (20,074) 10,713
Mel pension assets and liabilities {38400 8516 (543
Mel cash generated from operalions 1,233,844 1,321,165 ORI, THI
Interest paid (149.024) {113,293) (1374100
[meome taxes paid {29,083) {380} (3a6T)
Intcrest received 63351 20,023 6,050
Net cash Mows from operating activities 1,119,092 1,227,515 848 E15
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acguisitions of:
Property and equipment (Notes 10 and 29) (478,080) (272,85T) (183,735}
Computer sofiware (Mode 13) {(6,190) (4414) (153,479
Decrease {increass} in:
Keceivables from related pariies 182 24,252 {25}
Oibver noncurrent asscts 48322 38681 5284
Met cash lows used in invesling sclivities (435, Tha) (214,528} [193958)

fFarweard)



Years Ended December 31

2023 022 2021

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from short-term foans (Maoles 16 and 29) #1000, (W) I P00, 000
Payments of short-term loans (Motes 16 wnd 29) T {400,000 (375, 000)
Fayments of long-term loans (Notes 17 and 29) (1:.532,574) (25,001) =
Payment of lease liabilities (Note 31) {72,564) {69.827) (67_196)
Dividends paid to stockholders (Mote 29) {223,955) (167.083) (312.656)
Increase (decrease ) in payables 1o related pariies

(Mote 29) {8,091} 2,662 [15.345)
Met cash flows used in financing activilies (H37,184) (655, 249) {370,197)
EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES

0N CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS [406) (639] 449
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS (154,264) 357 299 285,127
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,961,428 1,604,129 1,319,002
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

END OF YEAR {(Motes T and 30) F1.807,164 P1.961 428 P1,604,129

See accompanying Nores o Convolidated Financial Stawmens,



IPEOPLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

L.

Corporate Information

iPeaple, ine. (the Parent Company) is a publicly-listed stock corporation registered and incorporated
on July 27, 1989 under the laws of the Philippines.

The Parent Company, a subsidiary of House of Investments, Inc. (HI), is a holding and management
company. 1People, inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group™) are mainly
invelved in cducation sector with the list of subsidiaries disclosed in Note 2.

The Group is a member of the Yuchengeo Group of Companies (YGC). The Group’s ultimate parent
is Pan Malayan Management and Investment Corporation {PMMIC),

In 2023, the Parent Company changed its principal office address to BthFloor Mapua University
Makati Campus, 1191 Pablo Ocampo Sr. Extension Ave., Makati City, Metro Manila from 3rd Floor,
Grepalife Building, 219 Sen. Gil J. Puyvat Avenue, Makati City.

Merger with AC Eduention, Ing.,
With the effectivity of the merger on May 2, 2019 between iPeople, inc. and AC Education, Inc.

(AEI), the wholly owned education arm of Ayala Corporation {AC), iPeople, inc. became 48.18%
owned by HI and 33.5% owned by AC. Details of the merger is disclosed in Note 6,

Rasis of Preparation

Thie consolidaed financial statements of the Group have been prepared under the historical cost basis,
except for the land which is under revaluation model and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (FVTPL). The consolidated financial statements arc presented in Philippine Peso (P), which is
the Parent Company's functional currency. Except as otherwise indicated, 8]l amounts are rounded
off 1o the nearest thousands,

siatement o liance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial
Reponing Standards (FFRSs).

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial siatements comprisc the financial statements of the Group as at
December 31, 2023 and 2022, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023,

2022 and 2021,
The consolidated financial statements ane prepared for the same reporting year as the Parent

Company, using consistent accounting policies. All significant intercompany balances and
tramsactions, mcluding income, expenses and dividends, are eliminated in full,
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Below arc the Group®s subsidiarics and percentage of ownership:

Fercentage of Chwnership
202y 02X 3021

Mafzyan Education Svstem, Inc. (MES]) [Operating Under the Mame of

Mapun University] and subsidiaries 0% 100 1P
Direct ownership of MESI on its sobsidinries:
Maolayan Colleges Laguna, Inc., A Mapua School (MOLD 100 111 100
Muolayan Colleges Mindanno { A Mapua School), ne, (MOMI) 100 10 [
Malayan High School of Science, Inc, (MHSSI) 100 100 10
Mapua Information Technology Center, Ine. (MITC) L] 100 10y
Mapua Techsery, Inc. 10 o0 100
Mapua Techpower, Ine. 75 75 15
People eServe Corporation 100 lon 100
Fan Pacific Compaiter Center, Incorporated (PROCT) oo [0 100
A ffordabie Private Education Center, Inc. daing business under the name of APEC
Schools* = | H ]
Mational Teochers College doing business onder the name/s
and style’s of The Mational Teachers College 0T8T TR
UHI"Eﬁit}' ufﬂma Caceres -l]n.ll 100 H3d¥
AL College of Enterprise and Technology, Inc. W) e 100
LINC Institute, Inc, doing business under the Mame
and Seyle of LING Academy 104 L 100

*in dugust 2023, SEC approved the merger of APEC and NTC, with NTC as the
yurviviRg eniliy

All subsidiaries were incorporated in the Philippines.

Subsidianes arc entities over which the Parent Company has control. Control is achieved when the
Parent Company 15 exposed, or has rights to variable retums from its invelvement with the invesiee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Parent
Company controls an investee il and only if the Parent Company has:

* power over the investee (i.c. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
aetivities of the investee);

®  pxposure, or rights, 1o variable retums from its involvement with the investee: and

= the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Parent Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Parent Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

»  the contractual armangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
* rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
#  the Parent Company's voling rights and potential voling rights.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtaing control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases,

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
cquity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it

durcgognizes the asscis (including goodwill) and labilites of the subsidiary;

recognizes the fair value of the consideration received;

recognizes the fair value of any investment retained;

recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and

reclassifies the Group's share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive

mcome (DCT) to profit or loss or refained camings, as appropriate.
DR A
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Non-controlling interest represenis interest in a subsidiary which is not owned, directly or indirectly,
by the Parent Company and are presented scparately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
mcome and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from the
Group's shareholders equity. Transactions with non-controlling interests are handled in the same way
as transactions with external parties,

Changes in Accounting Policies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for
the adoption of new standards effective as at January 1, 2023, The adoption of these pronouncemenis
did not have any significant impact on the Group's financial position or performance.

* Amendments to PAS 1 and PFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure af Accounting Policies

The amendments provide guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy
disclosures that are more useful by

o Replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a
requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accouming policies, and

o Adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about
accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments to the Practice Statement provide non-mandatory guidance.

The Philippine Interpretations Committee released Q&A No. 2022-02 which the Financial
Reporting Standards Council subsequently approved, The PIC Q& A provides guidance on how a
Philippine entity applies the amendments to PAS 1 and PFRS Practice Statement 2 with regards
to disclosure of accounting policies by providing examples of disclosures of material accounting
policies that illustrate the application of the amendments to PAS 1 and the four-step materiality
process 1o accounting policy information.

&« Amendments to PAS B, Definition aff Accounting Estimates
= Amendments to PAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Trerngaction

Standands Issued but ool vel Effective

Pronouncements issued but not yet effective are listed below.

Effective beginning on or after Janwary 1, 2024

o Amendments to PAS 1, Classiffcarion of Liobilitiex as Current or Non-current

o Amendments to PFRS 16, Lease Liability in o Sale and Leaveback

»  Amendments to PAS 7 and PFRS 7, Dizsclosures: Supplier Finance Arvangements

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2025
» PFRS 17, Insurance Contracis
o« Amendments to PAS 21, Lack of exchangeability



Deferved effectivity
* Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution
of Assets between an Invesior and its Associate or Joint Venture

The Group does not expect the future adoption of the applicable pronouncements to have a significant
impact on its consolidated financial statemenis.

The Group continues to assess the impact of the above new and amended accounting standards and
mterpretations effective subsequent to 2023 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the
period of initial application. Additional disclosures required by these amendments will be included in
the consolidated financial statements when these amendments are adopted.

Summary of Material Accounting Policies

Fair Value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an assct or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
cither:

¢ [n the principal market for the asset or liabality; or
* [n the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group:

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming thal market participants act in their economie
hest imerest,

A fair value measurement of a non-fnancial assel lakes into account a market participant’s ahility to
gencrate econemic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it 1o another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficicnt data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimizing the use of unohservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are categorized within the fair value hicrarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that iz significant to the fair value measurement a5 8 whole;

Level | - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable

¢ Level 3= Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that 15 significant to the [air value
measurement is uncbservable



.

For assets and habilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categonzation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each financial reporting dare.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and lisbilities on
the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or lisbility and the level of the fair value
hicrarchy as explained above.

Eiaisial
Initial recognition and subsequent measurément

The Group recognizes a financial assct or a financial liability in the statement of financial position
when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument, Purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognized on the scitlement date.

Financial assets — Initial recognition and measurement)
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as “subscquently measured at amortized cost™;
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and FYTPL.

The classification of linancial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset's contractual
cash flow chamactenstics and the Group’s business model for managing them, The Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs.

In order for a finoncial asset o be clagsified and measured at amortized costor FVOCT, it needs to
give rise to cash flow that are *solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal
amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPL test and is performed at an instrument
level.

The Group’s business model for managing financial asscts refers to how it manages its financial
assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result

from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

Suhrequent measurament )
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categones:

Fimancial assets al amortized cost (deld instruments)
Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debi
instruments)

« Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and
losses upon derecognition (equity instruments}

#  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group has financial assets at amortized cost {debt instruments) and financial assets at FVTPL.

(ORI
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Financial assets af cmortized coxt {debt insiruments)
The Group measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:

* The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

* The contractual terms of the financial assct give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial asscts at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR)
method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the
asset is derecognized, modified or impaired.

This accounting policy relates to the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, receivables, receivables from
related parties, shorl-term ivestments, and refundable deposits.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

A fnancial asset shall be measured at fair value through profit or loss unless it is measured at
amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI). However, an entity may
mitke an irrevecable election at initial recognition for particular invesiments in equity instruments that
would otherwise be measured at fair value through profit or loss to present subsequent changes in fair
walue in €],

The Group may, at initial recognition, irrevocably designate a financial asset as measured at fair value
through profit or lods i doing so eliminates or significantly reduces 3 measurement or recognition
meconsistency (sometimes referred 1o as an “accounting mismatch”) that would otherwise arise from
measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains and |osses on them on different bases.

Included in this classification is the peso-denominaied investment in Unii Investment Trust Fund
(LITF}) in Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation {RCBC).

Derecagnition of financial ossety

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
finencial asscts) is primarily derecognized (i.e., removed from the Group®s statement of financial
position) when:

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

The Group has wansferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewands of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asget.

Impratrment of financlal assets

The Group recognizes an allowance [or expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value, ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash Jows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an

approximation of the oripinal effective interest rate, The expected cash flows will include cash flows
fromm the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements thot are integral to the contractual terms,
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ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
!‘m‘ which there hits been a significant increase in credit nsk since initial recognition, 8 loss allowance
is required for credit losses expected aver the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date and the Group generally used the
provision matrix to measure ECL. The mechanics of the ECL calculations and the key elements are,
a5 follows:

a. Probability of default (PDY) is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon.

b, Expasure ar defoult (EAD) is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date taking into
account expecled changes in the exposure after the reporting date.

L. L_ﬂ:rr given defauli (LGD) is an estimate of the loss ansing in the case where a default occurs ata
given time,

The Group’s debt instruments at amortized cost comprise of cash and cash equivalents, short-term
investments and refundable deposits that are considered 10 have low credit risk. Hence, it is the
Group's policy to measure ECL on such instrument on a 1 2-month basis applying the low credit risk
simplification and based on the PD which is publicly available. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL.
The Group uses external eredit ratings both to determine whether the debt instrument has significantly
increased in credit risk and to estimate ECL.

For tuition and other fees receivables, the Group applics a simplified approach in calculating ECL.
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowanee
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date. The Group generally uses a provision matrix 1o
calculate ECL. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings based on school term.
The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group
will then consider directly relevant forward-looking informaton. Al every reponting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates arc
considerad.

Primary drvers like macrocconomic indicators of qualitative factors such as forward-looking data on
inflation rate and unemployment rate were added to the ECL calculation to reach a forecast supported
by both quantitative and qualitative data points.

The Group may consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or extemal information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
tuking inte account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Fivancial Lighilittes — Initial recognition and meayuremoent

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in
an cllective hoedge, as appropriste, and in the case of loans and borrowings and payobles, net of
directly atributable transaction costs.

The Group's Anancial labilities meclude loans and bomrowings.



Subséquent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
* Loans and borrowings

Loans and borrawings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the EIR method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. Gains and
losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilitics are derccognized as well as through the EIR
amortization process. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in the statement of
comprehensive ncome.

This accounting policy applies primarily to accounts payable and other current liabilities (excluding
payables 1o government), payables to related parties, dividends payable, lease liabilities, and loans
payable.

Devecognition of fincecial liahilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expires. When an existing financial liobility is replaced by ancther from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of
a mew liability. The difference in the respective carmying amounts i5 recognizied in the sttement of
comprehensive income.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets pertain to resources controlled by the Group as a result of
past events and from which future economic benefits are expecied to flow 1o the Group, This account

includes the following;

Prepaid Expenses
These are expenses paid in advance to be amortized over the benefit period or to be expense once
incurred or consumed. These consist of prepaid insurance and subseriptions, among others.

Short-term imvextmeniy
This pertuins to interest bearing time deposits with terms of not more than one year and held for

iMVesTMCOE PUIPOses.

Credirable Withholding Tax (fCWT)
This pertains to the tax withheld source by the Group's customers and lessees and is creditable

ogainst its income tax lighility.

Property and Equipment
Property and cquipment, except for land, is stated ot cost, less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment in value.
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The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import duties,
taxes and any directly antributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use. Expenditures incurred afier the assets have been put into operation, such as repaits
and n:minl:mmu:. are normally charged to operations in the period in which the costs are incurred. In
siuations where il can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in
the future economic benefits expected 1o be obtained from the use of an item of property and
r.qmpmnlnt beyond its originally assessed standurd of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as
an additional cost of propenty and equipment.

Construction in progress represents property under construction and is stated at cost. This includes
cost of construction and other direct costs, Construetion in progress is not depreciated until such time
that the relevant assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives (EUL) of the
related assets as follows:

Years
Buildings and improvements 10-40
Office fumiture and equipment 5-10
Transportation equipment 5

Leaschold improvemenis are amorized over the term of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the
improvements, whichever is shorter,

The EUL and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and method of
depreciation are consistent with the expected patiern of economic benefits from items of property and

equipment,

Fully depreciated property and equipment are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use
and no further depreciation and amortization are credited to or charged against current operations.

When assets carried at cost are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated
depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected as part of
currenl operations. When land camicd at revalued amount are retired or otherwise disposed of, the
carrying amount, which is the fair value at the time of sale or disposal, is derecognized and no gain or
livgs is recognized.

Land at Revalued Amounis
Land is carried at its revalued amount, The appraised values used for revaluation were determined by

independent firms of appraisers.

The imitial cost of land consists of its purchase price and directly attributable costs of bringing the
aszel to its working condition and location Tor its intended use.

The appraizal increment (net of deferrod tax) resulting from the revaluation is credited 1o OC] and
accumulated in equity under “revaluation increment on land — net™ account. Decreases in valuation is

charged to profit or loss, except to the extent that it reverses the existing accumulated revaluation
incrernent on the same asset and therefore such decrease is recogmized in OCl. The decrease

recognized in OC] reduces the revaluation increment on land — net account in equity. In case a
subsequent revaluation increase of an asset reverses a revaluation decreass previously recognized in
profit or loss; such increase is credited 1o income in profit or loss.



=Y

The same rules apply 1o impairment losses. An impairment loss on a revalued asset is first used to
reduce the revaluation increment for that asset. Only when the impairment loss exceeds the amount in
the revaluation increment for that same assct is any further impairment loss recognized in profit or
longs.

Upon disposal. any revaluation increment relating to the land being sold is transferred to retained
earmings.

Right-of-use Assets and Lease Liabilities

The Group recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on contracts that qualify as leases under
PFRS 16. The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.c., the
date the underlying assct is available for use). Right-of-use asscts are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received and estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing the
underlying assct, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred (o produce
inventories. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end
of the lease term, the recognized right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

Right-of-use assets are subject to impaimment. Refer to the accounting policies on Impairment of
Monfinancial Assets,

Lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease
ingentives receivable, vanable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
gapected o be paid under residual value guaranteess. The lease payments &lso include the exercise
price of a purchase oplion reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penaltics
for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expense in the
period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs,

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
(IBR) ot the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease 15 not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased o reflect the
aceretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made, In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there 15 2 modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-
substance fixed lease pavments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying assct.

The Group applies the shori-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of office space.
It also applies the low-value assets recognition cxemption to leases that are considered of low value.
Lease payvments on short-lerm leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized as expense oo a
straight-line basis over the lease term,

an Goodwill
Intangible asscts acguired scparately are mensured on initial recognition ot cost, The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a busingss combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.
Subsequently, intangible asscts arc measured at cost less accumulated amortization and provision for
impairment loss, ifany. Intermally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalized development
costs, are not capitalized and expenditure is reflected in the consolidated statemont of income in the
year in which the expenditure is incurred.
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The estimated useful life of intangible assets is assessed as either finite or indefinite. The estimated
useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:

Mumber of Years
Intellectual property righis Indefinite
Student relationship 57
Software cost 1

The estimated useful lives of intangible asscts with finite lives are assessed at the individual assel
level. Intangible assets with finite lives arc amortized over their estimated useful lives on a straight-
line basis. Periods and method of amortization for intangible assets with finite useful lives are
reviewed annually or carlicr when an indicator of impairment exists.

Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattemn of consumption of future economic
benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as
appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on
intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible assets.

Intangble assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment annually,
either individually or at the CGU level. The asscssment of indefinite useful life is reviewed annually
to determine whether the indefinite useful life continues 1o be supportable. If not, the change in
useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Impaimment of Nonfinancial Assets

Property and equipment, studert relationship, right-of-use assets, and other noncurrent assets

The Group assesses as of reporting date whether there is an indication that nonfinancial assets may be
impaired. IFany such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable
amount. An assel’s recoverable amount is calculated as the higher of the asset’s or CGUs fair value
less costs 1o sell and its value i use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset docs
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those assets or groups of assets. Where the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is
written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assel.

Coodwill and intellectual property rights
Goodwill and imielleciual property rights are reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if
cvents or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

Impairment on goodwill and intellectual property rights are determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit, to which these assets relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized,
Impainment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

Equity
The Oroup reecids common stock al par valuc for all shaics sswed and oulstanding, and additionad

paid-in capital for the excess of the total contributions received over the aggregate par values of the
equity shares, Incremental costs incurred directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are
shown in equity as a deduction from proceeds, net of tax,
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Retsined camings represent accumulated earnings less dividends declared and any adjustment arising
from application of new accounting standards, policies or correction of errors applied retroactively.

The individual accumulated eamings of the subsidiaries are available for dividend declaration when
these are declared as dividends by the respective subsidiarics as approved by their respective BOD or
BOT, as applicable,

Revenue and Income Recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects 1o be entitled in
exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer. Revenue is recognized when the
Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service to the customer,
which is when the customer obtains control of the goods or service. The Group assesses its revenue
amangements against specific criteria in order 1o determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The
Group has concluded that it is acting as principal in all of its revenue arrangements,

Revenue from schools and related operations consist of the following:

Revenue from tuition and other matriculation fees

Revenue from tuition fees and other matniculation fees are recognized over time over the
comesponding school term using the output method (ie., time lapsed over the service period such as
semester or school year, depending on the curriculum registered), Upon enrollment, students have
the option to pay the twition and other matriculation fees in full or in installment.

Ohthrer student-related income

Other student-related income i3 recognized at & point in time upon delivery of the promised goods to
the customer or at point in time when services has been rendered. These mainly consist of the
following:

Admission, examination and other jees
Admission, examination and other fees are recognized as income when examination has been granted
by the school and related services have been provided to the students {at point in time).

Bookstore income
Bookstore income is recognized when goods have been delivered to the buyer (at point in time),

Seminar income
Seminar income is recognized as income over the comesponding term or as the services are rendered
[t point in tme or over Hme).

Mizcellancous income
Mizscellaneous income 5 recognized when camed (ai point in fime).

Sale of goods is recognized as revenue upon delivery of the goods to the buyer {at point in time).
Sale of services is recognized when services ane rendered (over time).

Following are contract balances relative to PFRS 15:

Receivablex
A receivable represents the Group's right 1o an amount of consideration that is uncenditional
(Le., only the passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is dug).
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Capmirgcy asyets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the
customer, If the Group performs by transferring goods or services 1o a customer before the payment
is due, a coniract asset is recognized for the earned consideration that is conditional,

Contract {iabiliries

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If 3 customer
pays consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to a customer, a contract liability is
recognized when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is carlier). Contract
linbilities are recognized as revenue when the Group performs under the contract. The Group's
contract liabilities represent the unearned income on tuition fees (presented under uneamed income)
and accounts payable (o students (presented under accounts payable and other current liabilities) and
will be recognized as revenue when the related educational services are rendered. Accounts payable
to students arc advance collections from students to be applied 1o the next school year or school term.

X
The Group's costs and expenses constitute costs of operating the business recognized in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as incurred,

Cast af schoels and related operations

Cost of schools and related operations constitute expenses directly related to the Group's school and
related operations which include expenses for salaries and wages of teaching and academic support
personnel, student welfare activities, and all other student-related costs and expenses, Cost of schoals
and related operations are recognized as expense when the school and related services have been
provided to the students,

Creneral and Administrative Expenses
These expenses constitute costs of administering the business. General and administrative expenses,
excepl for rent expense, are recognized as incurred.

lerest | i es
Interest and financing charges, excluding capitalizable borrowing costs, is recognized as expense in
the period in which it is incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalized if they are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of a
qualifying asset. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds. Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the
activitics Lo prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred.
Borrowing costs are capitalized until the assets are substantially ready for their intended use,

| nit Beneh
Retirement benefits cost is actuanally determined using the projected unit credit method. This
method considers each period of service as giving rise to an additional unit of benefit entitiement and
measures cach unit separately to build up the final obligation.

AR
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Retirement benefits cost comprises the following:

- Service cosls
- Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on nonroutine
settlements are recognized as expense in profit or loss, Past service costs are recognized when plan
amendment or curtailment occurs.

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net
defined benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying
the discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset.
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in profit or
loss.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses (excluding net interest on defined benefit
ligbility} are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they
anse. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any), adjusted
for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling. The asset ceiling is the
present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in
future contributions to the plan.

Plan asseis are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund or qualifying insurance
policies. Plan assets are nol available to the creditors of the Group, nor can they be paid directly to
the Group. Fair valuc of plan assets is based on market price information, When no market price is
available, the fair value of plan assets is estimated by discounting expected future cash flows using a
discount rate that reflects both the nisk associated with the plan assets and the maturity or expected
disposal date of those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the expected period until the settlement of
the related obligations).

Ingome Taxes

Current tax

Current Lax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected
1o be recovered from or paid to the taxation authonties. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute
the amount are those that are enacted or substantially enacted at the financial reporting date.

Deferred fax
Dieferred tax 15 provided, using the balance sheet liability method, on all temporary differences at the
financial reporting date between the tax bases of assets and linbilities and their carrying amounts for

financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liahilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognized for all deductible temporary differences, net operating loss carry over (NOLCO) and
minimum corparate income tax (MOCIT) o the extent thal it is probable that future taxatle profic will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Defierred rax,
however, is not recognized when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.
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The carrying amount of deferred 1ax assets is reviewed at each financial reporting date and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be available o allow all
or part of the deferred income tax assct to be utilized.

Deferred i.m:mpe tax that relates 1o items that are recognized: (a) in other comprehensive income shall
be recognized in other comprebensive income; and (b) directly in equity shall be recognized directly
in equaty.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilitics arc offset if a legally enforceable right to offset current
imcome tax against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate 1o income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend to cither sctile current income tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, on cach future periad in which
significant amounts of deferred income tax assets and liabilitics are expeeted to be settled or
recovered. Subsidiaries operating in the Philippines file income tax returns on an individual basis.
Thus, the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset on a per entity basis.

eases —
Leases m which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of
the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negoliating an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the leased term on the
same bases as rental income. Rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease.

Foreign Currency-denominated Transactions and Translation

Foreign currency-denominated transactions are recorded using the prevailing exchange rates at the

time of trunsactions. Foreign currency-denominated monctary assets and liabilities are translated 1o
Philippine Peso closing rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date. Exchange gains or losses
arising from foreign currency are charged to profit or loss.

Basic Eamings Per Share (EPS)

Basic eamings per common share is computed based on weighted average number of issued and
outstanding common shares, less treasury shares, after giving retroactive effect for any stock
dividends. Diluted earnings per share, if applicable, is computed on the basis of the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares
that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary
shares. There are no dilutive potential common shares that would require disclosure of diluted
camings per common share in the consolidated financial statements.

Sepment Reportimg

The Group's operating business are organized and managed scparately according to the nature of
services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different
products and serves different markets. Financial information on business segments is presented in
Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements,

Frovisions are recogniged when (a) the Group has o present obligation (legal or consiructive) as a
result of a past evend, (b} it is probable that an outflow of asseis embodying economic benefits will be
required 1o settle the obligation and (¢) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by
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discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of
'Inhe time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability, Where discounting
15 used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as an interest expense.

Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments and
estimates that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying
notes. Future evenis may occur which can cause the assumptions used in arriving at those estimates
to change. The effects of any changes in estimates will be reflected in the consolidated financial
statements as they become reasonnbly determinable,

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumsiances,

Fair valedion af land

The Group measures land at revalued amount with changes in fair value being recognized in other
comprehensive income. The Group engaged an independent firm of appraisers (o determine the fair
value as al December 31, 2023 and 2022, The key assumptions used to determine fair value are
disclosed in Mote 11,

As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, the fair value of land smounted to #9,719.0 million and
B7.578.4 million, respectively (Note 11),

Estimation of allowance for ECL on tuition and ather fees receivables

The Group genernlly uses provision matnix to caleulate ECL for tuition and other fees receivables,
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have
similar loss patierns, The provision malrix is initially based on the Group's historical observed
diefault rates. The Group will then consider directly relevant forward-looking information. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and forward-looking factors specific
to the deblors and the economie environment are updated.

The Group also applied weights to various scenanos in the computation of the allowance for ECL 1o
incorporate impact of uncenainty due to the current economic conditions.  The amount of ECL is
sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group's histerical
credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of the
customer's actual default in the future.

Allowance for ECL on tuition and other fees receivables and related carrying value are disclosed in
MNoile B,

lfmpairment of nonfinancial asvets

Impairment of goodwill and intellectual property rights (nonfinancial assets with indefinite uscful ) are
assessed ot least on an annual basis, In assessimg the impairment, the Group determines the
recoverable mmount wsing value i use with details disclosed in Motes 6 and 12, The carrying value
of these assets and dewmils of the impairment testing are disclosed in Notes 6 and 12.

As to the Group's student relationship, an impainment loss was recognized in 202 for student
relationship atiributable 10 APEC (nil in 2023 and 2022) [Note 6].
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In 2023 and 2022, the Group performed an impairment testing of the property and equipment and
right-of-use assets of APEC amounting to P376.7 million and #416.0 million as of December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively, due to the continuing losses and significant decline in the number of
students due to the coronavirus pandemic. In assessing the impairment, the Group determines the
recoverable amount using value in use, with details disclosed in Note 31, As of December 31, 2023
and December 31, 2022, management assessed that these assets are not impaired considering that the
calculated recoverable amount is higher than the carrving value (see Notes 10 and 31).

Estimation of pension obligations and other retirement benefits

The determination of the Group's pension cost and liabilities is dependent on the selection of certain
assumptions used in calculating such amounts. Those assumptions include, among others, discount
rate and salary increase rate which were disclosed in Note 25 and to which the cash flows are most
sensitive 1. While the Group believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate,
significant differences in the actual experience or significant changes in assumptions may materially
affect the retirement expense and related asset or liability,

As al December 31, 2023 and 2022, the net pension liabilities amounted to #162.4 million and
B129.8 million, respectively, while net pension assets amounted to #20.1 million and #38.7 million as
at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively (Note 25).

Dieferred fax assers

The Group reviews the camying amounis of deferred tax assets ot each financial reporting date and
reduces deferred tax assets 10 the extent that it is no [onger probable that sufficient future taxable
prafit will be available to allow all or pant of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. Where
there is no absolute assurance that each legal entity in the Group will generate sufficient taxable profit
to-allow all or pant of its deferred tax assets to be vtilized, deferred tax assets are not recognized.

Deferred tax assets recognized and temporary differences on which deferred tax assets were not
recognized are disclosed in Note 23,

Pravisions

The Group is currently involved in certain legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of
business. The estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of these claims has been developed in
consultation with outside counsel handling the defense in these matiers and is based upon an analysis
of potential results, The ultimate disposition of these matters cannot be determined with certainty.
The Group will exhaust all legal remedies available to it in defending itself in these claims and
proceedings (Motes 14 and 31},

Intangible Assets Arising from the Merger

As u result of the merger which was disclosed in Note 1, iPeople, inc. issued to AC an aggrepate of

295,329,976 shares with par value of #1,0 per share for a iotal fair value of P3,591.21 million based
on iPeople, inc.'s quoted closing rate per share as of May 2, 2019 in exchange for the transfer of the
net assels of AEL. The excess of the fair value of shares issued over the par value was recognized as
additional paid-in capital.

The Group recognized the following intangible assets in 2019 as a result of the merger:

Intellectual property rights B523,103
Student relationship | 16,009
Cioodwill (Mote 12) 13,472

BG5S E.E'.SM
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Intellectual property rights have infinite life and the student relationship have an estimated useful life
of 5 years to 7 years based on the contractual relationship between the school entities and its students.
These assets are attributed from the acquisition of operating schools NTC, APEC and UNC.

Inteflectual Property Rights

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group performed impairment testing on intellectual property
rights using the income approach (royalty relief method) wherein recoverable value is computed
based on royalty savings. Key assumptions used are as follows:

* Revenue projections and long-term growth rate (3% for 2023 and 2022). Revenue projections
based on financial budgets approved by management and the BOD. The long-term growth rate
considers the expected growth rate in the education industry sector.

* Discount rates (14% to 16% for 2023 and 16% to 1 7% for 2022). The discount rate used for the
computation of the net present value is the weighted average cost of capital and was determined
by reference to comparable listed companies in the educational sector,

* Royalty rates (0.5% to 5% for 2023 and 1% to 5% for 2022). This is based on the publicly
available information on franchising of educational institutions in the Philippines, with
consideration on the operational risk of the involved entity.

The Group's impairment testing on intellectual property rights resulted to the recognition of
#32.8 million impairment loss on APEC in 2023 and #32.2 million impairment loss in 2022 (nil in
2021). The carrying value of intellectual property rights as of December 31, 2023 and 2022
mmounted to B458. 1 milhion and #490.9 million, respectively.

Srucdent Refationship
The carrying value and movement of student relationship as of and for the year ended December 31
follows:

2023 2022
Cost from busingss combination Pi16,009 116,09
Accumulaied amortization:
Beginning balance (105,250) (72,248
Amaortization and impairment (Note 20a) (4.727) (33,002)
Ending balance (109,977} (1005, 250)
Balance at end of the year P6,032 #10,759

Amoriization amounted to P4.7 million in 2023, #33.0 million in 2022 and #2223 million 2021, In
2021, the Group recognized B12.8 million impairment loss en APEC student relationship because the
remaining students from the time of the merger in 2019 significantly declined as of December 31,
2021 due to the impact of coronavinus pandemic.

. Cash and Cash Equivalenis
This account consisis of;
2023 2022
Cash on hand B3.326 E3,100
Cash in banks (Note 13) 711,829 544 228
Cash equivalents (Mot 15) 102008 1.414,100
P1.807,164 Bl ,9'{‘#1142$
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Cash in banks cam interest at the prevailing bank deposit rates, Cash equivalents have terms with
varying plcnod:- of up to three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group
and earn interest at the prevailing short-term investment rates,

Interest income from cash in banks and cash equivalents amounted to #63.4 million, P20.0 million
and #6.0 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively (Note 22).

Receivables

This account consists of

2023 2022
Tuition and other fees F1,634,740 P1,429,78]
Advances to officers and employees 40,511 29 870
Others $8,952 62,966
1,764,203 1,522.617
Allowanee for ECL (384,570) (346.389)
PFI1.379.633 Pl 176 228

Tuition and other fees pertain to wition and other matriculation fees which are normally collected at
end of every school term before the students can proceed to the next term.  This also includes
receivable from Department of Education (DepEd) amounting to B240.6 million and #3198 million
as al December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, arising from the Senior High Schoeol (SHS) Voucher
Program wherein qualified SHS students are given assistance on tition fees. These receivables are
noninteresi-bearing and are generally collectible within one year.

The changes in allowanee for ECL as at December 31 follow:

2023
Tuktion and
oiher fees Chhers Total
Balance at beginning of year P337.619 PRTTO 146,389
Pravisions for the vear (Note 21) 43,997 - 43,907
Write-ofl {3816 - (5. 816])
Balance at end of vear B175 R00 #8.770 FIB4.570
Gross receivahles Fi. 634,740 PEEO52 P1,713.691
202
Tuition wnd
olher fees Ohihers Toui
Balance al begmming of vear B2I81,120 PR.TT0 P2RD 5}
Provisions fior the year (MNate 21) [ 20,4408 - 120,408
Write-odf (63.909) - (63,909)
Balance al end of year Fii7 619 Pﬂ,?lﬂ Fid6, 349
Ciross receivables Bl1,429 78] P62 966 P1.492.747
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9. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

. 2023 2022
Prepaid expenses B21a,653 PI63.416
Shott-tenm mvestments 267,818 61,153
CWT 7,609 10,352
Books inventories B804 i, 160
Office supplies 4,125 3,904
Oithers 101,950 119,952

— i Bo0T, 049 P464,937

Prepaid expenses mainly include prepayments for membership fees, subscriptions, and insurance,

among others.

Shor-term invnsL_m:uls e interest at the prevailing investment rates and have maturity of less than
one year. These include investments held for government and private entities for the purpose of
undertaking socic-economic studies and development projects.

Others relate to rent deposits and other supplies. This also includes payments made on certain claims

that are under protest (Note 31).

. Property and Equipment

The rollforward analvsis of this account follows:

s
CHilkee

Bulldings smil  Furniture pnd Transperiation Construsctian

Improvemenis E i ment  In Fiss Total
Comi
Balance ol beginming of year F6ATINTY.  PLARIINE PFE11T0 PIOTTE  PRAAN 6D
Acipuisitiens 131,042 334 0R0 18,459 ELY 0] L1 J L]
Dispesale’rediremend - {65, 008 - - {62003y
Heclassifivations and adjustmenty 17,671 45 = (18,47 (768}
Halanee af end nfxrlr 6,026 hEE 3052343 AR 37974 o HTR, 695
Accumulzied deprecistion, smardzaibon smd

impalrment luss

Balamce s beginning of year 1LTRLA4% 112,758 4 3K3 - & 144, 5TH
Drepreciatbon (Netes 20 and 217 119,596 109,980 5491 - 445 0ET
Dispusalsretirement - (52,151} - - (51.151)
Retlassifications amd adjusinents K70 BT 13 - G609
Balnsce ai eod of yesr 201,924 1,499,274 45,807 = 4,547,095
Ned book valoe ni cost 4.6I4.Thl B53, 059 15,778 7874 5331600
Lamid at revabued amounis (Nate 11} - - - - 4,719,059
Tuial 4. ThHE PES108% FI5.TTH P37.974 F1E 056642

LRIV L
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g 2021
Chifice
Buiklings and  Furnifure and - Trapsporstion  Constrsction
— Improvemerts Equipnseni Egmipmemi In Progrise Tolal
Balance at beginning of yoar P4 200033 Fis72. 70 PS197T i 548 080 P9, 165 K23
.ﬁ.@lnrﬁum_ 150,450 132,257 | B 45 6 130,146
Dupmuh'ru_lmmﬂ - {3330 (761) - (4,09R)
Reclussificatinns and sdimsoments IAz7 a5 191,575 (1H20)  {1,669.974) {32,760}
Balence st ond of year 6ATTSTY 1 EG3 254 1,176 0. 776 G443 E6ll
Accunalated deprocisian, amormiestien and
imnparrment hss

Eﬂ-lﬂnnﬂftqgmrn; o woar 5059 FRELA 36773 - 3761804
wamlllm_{l“im! w1 e 1% 3y [ d454 e 300 - F81 278
Dll-pﬂll_-hl-"l‘ﬁlll:rrwnl - (3349 (T61 - 4.0 10
Roclassificativens and ailjustmonis = ¥ AN {2.020) = 4,591
Bulance ot end of year 1.TH] 440 253 Tik 441,383 = 4144 870
Met book vilor a1 cowt 4,150, 524 AT0407 10,7935 21,778 FH00.500
Land & revalucd ssmownts (Mole 11] = - - - T5TRALE
Toual Nﬂﬁﬁi‘.ﬂ B3 AEAT FID_.TEI'J- P20, T T P:Illﬂ-ﬂlli:l.:

Construction in progress as at December 31, 2022 mainly includes the general cost of construction of
MESI's new school building in Makati City and other direct costs which was completed in 2023,

The land and related improvements owned by MCMI with carrying value of #1,826.7 million and
#21,385.5 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, were used to secure the long-term
loans of MCMI as disclosed in Mote 17,

The Group performed an impairment testing of the property and equipment and right-of-usc assets of
APEC in which further disclosures are made in Note 31.

Land ai Revalued Amounts

This account, classified as property and equipment (see Note 10), consists of®

2023 2022

Land at cost P4, 066,906 P4, 066, 206
Revaluation increment on land:

Balance at beginning of year 3,511,506 2,393 939

Change in revaluation ingcrement 2. 140,627 1.117.567

Balance at end of yvear 5,652,113 3511506

F9.719,039 PT.578.412

Land at revalued amounts consists of owner-occupicd property wherein the school buildings and
other facilities are located,

These land were appraised by SEC-accredited independent firms of appraisers to determine the
revalued amounts as at December 31, 2023 and 2022,

The valuation was derived through the market approach based upon prices paid in actual market
transactions. This approach relies on the comparison of recent sale transactions or offerings of
stmilar properties which have occurmed andfor offered with close proximity to the subject propertics,
adjusted based on certain elements of comparison (e.g. location, size and road frontage).

The parcels of land were valued in terms of their highest and best use which is categorized under
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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Presented below are the land location and the ranges of the land fair value per square meter based on
the appraisal reports.

Range
Lacation 2023 1022
: _ PT 14,000 w0 P83.050 10
Makati and Intramums, Manila P298 150 P45 006
P& 50T o Pl ] E75 o
Cabuyao, Laguna P16.335 #13.500
P41.535 10 P22 088 1o
Dravao City, Davoo Dl Sur 49, 140 35,340
P26 000 1w P85, 78] to
Pandacan, Metro Manila BLS1 200 P1O2 375
P56.002 o PSS 510 10
San Jose Del Monte City, Bulacan il 493 403
P27.075 1o L9, 000 10
Naga Uity, Camanines Sus P25, 500 F34.213
F206.900 1o PES, [ to
Chatapa, Manila 300,200 135,000

Adjustment factors arising from external and internal factors (i.¢., location, size and road frontage)
affecting the subject properties as compared to the market listing of comparable properties, range
from -30% to +20% in 2023 and from -20% to +15% in 2022,

Significant increases (decreascs) in cstimated price per square meter would result in a significantly
higher {lower) fair value of the land.

In 2019, the Group recorded provision for impairment in value of P21.0 million on a parcel of land
charged to profit or loss as there was no previous revaluation increment recognized on said land.
Based on the 2021 and 2020 appraisal of the same parcel of land, there was an increase in value that
resulted to the reversal of the previously recognized impairment loss amounting to P15.8 million in
2021 and P5.2 millicn in 2020. The increase was credited to profit or loss as “Other income (charge)
= net” in the 202 | and 2020 statement of comprehensive income.

. Goodwill

The goodwill recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position amounting 1o
P151.3 million as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 pertains to the #1378 millien goodwill from
acquisition of MESI in 1999 and #13.5 million goodwill from the 2019 acquisition of AE]
subsidiaries (see Mote 6,

The Group performed impairment testing on goodwill ansmg from acquisition of MES] whernein
MES! was considered as the CGU. No impairment testing was done on the P13.5 million goodwill as
the Group assessed it as not material wo the consolidated financial smtements. In 2023, 2022 and
2021, management assessed that no impairment loss should be recognized.

Key assumptions used in the value in use (FIL) calculation

As al December 31, 2023 and 2022, the recoverable amount of the OGU has been determined based
on g VIU calculation using fve-year cash flow projections. Key assumplions in the ViU calculation
of the CGL are most sensitive to the following:

»  Future revenues and revenue growth rates, Cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management and the BOD covening a five-year period.
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Long-term growth rates (4.66% for 2023 and 5.79% for 2022). The long-term growih rate
considers the historical growth rate of MESI and the long-term growth rate for the education

industry sector.

Discount rate (1] A% for 2023 and 14% for 2022). The discount rate used for the computation of
the net present value is the weighted average cost of capital and was determined by reference 1o

comparable listed companies in the educational sector.

Fersitivity fo changes in assimptions
Management believes that no reasonably possible change in any of the above key assumptions would
cause the camying value of goodwill to matenially exceed its recoverable amount.

. vher Noncarreni Asseis

This account consisis of:

2023 2022

Input VAT — net B34.216 k35,526
Miscellaneous deposits 16,986 26,404
Creditable withholding tax 9,958 22,032
Computer soflware 15475 1708
Books and periodicals 2,645 3,784
BES.280 P104,754

Miscellancous deposits include rent deposits of the Group amounting to #18.9 million and #14.2

million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Computer software 1s amortized over a period of three years. The rollforward analysis of computer
sofiware follows:

iz3 M2
Cosi
Balance at the beginning of the year 64,032 R359,504
Additions &, 190 4,414
Reclassifications - 114
Balance at the end of the vear 70,222 h4.032
Accumulated Amortization
Balance at the beginning of the year 47,024 40,040
Amonization (Notes 20 and 21) 6,113 6,860
Reclassitications 1610 124
Balance at the end of the year 54.747 47,024
Met Book Value BISA475 B7.008
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14. Accounis Payable and Other Current Liabilities and Unearned Income

ooty Pavabie an # Current Li
Accounts payable and otheér current liabilities consists of:

2023 2022

Accounts payable B455.990 B434 28]
Accrued expenses 250,255 223,048
Funds payable 275,650 238,947
Provisions (Mote 31) 162,352 6% 717
Other pavables 35,483 34,604
£1.179,730 P1.099.637

Accounts payable pertains to the Group’s obligation to local suppliers, Accounts pavable also
includes payables to students which are considered contract liahilitics amounting to #16.3 million and
B35.8 million as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Accrued expenses consist of:

2023 2022

Payable to suppliers #125.963 B67,117
Agcrued salaries and wages 13,802 48 261
Contracted services 16,122 5,643
Accrued interest (Mote [8) 15,0549 17,468
Accrued professional fiees 8739 17,134
Accrued communication expense 8,727 3,259
Withholding taxes and others D615 19,121
555 and other contributions 3488 7.344
Accrued unlities 5,860 5,501
Output VAT payable 12,902 1,527
Insurance RS54 4 875
Others 19,086 15,798
#250,255 $223.048

Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other payables are noninieresi-bearing and arc expected 10
be settled within a year after the financial reporting date. Funds payables are noninterest-beanng and
are expected 1o be scitled upon payout related o the funded projects and scholarship programs.

Funds payable includes funds received by the Group from Depantment of Science and Technology
(DOST), Commission on Higher Education (CHED) and private entities for their scholarship
programs [o be granted o the Group’s students, and NSTP and CWTS fees collected from students.

Unearned income consists mainly of unearned tuition fees and seminar fees amounting to
P976.3 million and P787.6 million as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which are

considered contract liabilities.

: i fiahilitics
As at December 31, 2023, contract liabilities amounted to #392.6 million and these will be
recognized as revenue in the following year. Contract liabilities as of December 31, 2022 amounting
to #8234 million were recognized as revenue in 2023, The increase in contract liabilities in 2023 is
mainly due to increase m enmollment.

L i
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15. Related Party Transactions

Related party relationships exist when the entity has the ability to control, directly or indirectly, through
one or more intermediaries, or exercise significant influence over the entity in making financial and
aperating decisions. Such relationships also exist between and/or among entities which are under
common control with the reporting entity and #ts key management personnel, directors or stockholders.
In considering cach possible related entity relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the

relationship and not merely the legal form.

Following are the transactions with related parties and the balances as at December 31:
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The Group's significant transactions with related parties follow:

a)

b

dj

b/

hi

Payable to HT
This account pertains to management and other professional fees charged by HI for administering
the subsidiaries’ operations {Notes 20 and 21).

Receivables from HY
This account pertains to fuel consumption, car plan and gym rental advanced by the Group, These
arc noninterest-bearing and are payable on demand.

Receivables from entities under common control of Hi

Receivables from entities under common control of HI arise from HI subsidiaries’ lease of the
Group’s canteen kiosks in its Makati and Intramuros propertics and expenses advanced by the
Group. The term of the lease is for one year and renewable with uniform rental payments,

Payables to entities under common comtrol of Hi
Payables to entities under common control of HI pertain to property management and janitorial
and security services (contractual services),

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company maintains cash and cash equivalent with its affiliate bank and cams interest income
at prevailing deposit and shori-term investment rates (Note 7).

Receivables fram entities under common contral af PMMIC
Due from entities under common control of PMMIC arises from RCBC's rental of the Group's
office spaces in its Makati property.

Fayables to entities under common control of PMMIC

The Group obtains property and personnel insurance with its affiliated insurance company,
Malayan Insurance Company, Inc. (MICO). Insurance contract coverage pertains to the Group's
fire, accident, group and other insurance policies,

Pavable to related parties
Payable 1o related parties mainly pertains to management foes charged by AC for the
administration of the Parent Company’s operations.

Accounts pavable to related parties
Pertains (o the water utility bifls and professional fees payable to other affiliates.

Other related party transactions follow:

al

The Group maintains its retirement fund with RCBC Trust Division (Note 25). Trust fees paid by
the retirement plan to RCBC amounted to PO.98 million, PO.46 million and #1.23 million for the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
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The remuneration of directors and other members of kev management are as follows:

023 2022 2021

Shon-term benefits E159,250 P260.022 Bl44.164
Post-employment benefits 2,247 6,651 1,400
#161,497 P275,673 145,564

Terms and conditions of transaction with related parties

Outstanding balances at year-end are unsecured, interest free and settlement occurs in cash. For the
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group has not recorded any impairment losses on
receivables relating (o amounis owed by related parties. This assessment is undertaken each year
through examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party
operates.

, Short-term Loans

In 2017, the Group, through MCMI, obtained a short-term loan (STL) facility with Bank of Philippine
Island (BPL), which was carmarked from the long-term loan facility of the Group from same bank, to
finance the construction of MCMI'"s school building. Each STL facility may be re-availed, rencwed
or extended within a period of one year provided that the sum of the terms of re-availments/renewals’
extension will not exceed 360 days. The STL facility may be converted into a 10-year term loan
facility which shall be partially secured by the real cstate mortgage on the real property of MCML
The STL facility is secured by the Continuing Suretyship Agreement of MESI, Annual interest rates
range from 3.00% to 5.50%. Short-term loans amounting to P400.0 million as at December 31, 2021
was paid in 2022,

In 2023, MCMI availed of #1.0 billion short-term loans from RCBC and BP1 at 7.00% and 7.65%
interest rate, respectively. The loan agreements shall be valid for one (1) year, renewable every year
upon mutual written consent of the parties.

Imterest expense charged to operations in 2023, 2022 and 2021 amounted to B399 million,
P3.7 million and P6.7 million, respectively (Mote 22),

17.

Long-term Loans

This account consists of the following as of December 31:

2023 2022

Linsecured hank loans R P358,5998

Secured bank loans - 1,497,018

Total 326,425 1,856,016

Less: Current portion of unsecured bank loans 32,574 24,430
Reclassification to current liability of secured

loans = 1497018

Curreni portion of long-ierm loans 32,574 1,521,448

Noncurrent portion of long-tenn loans BI93.851 B334.568
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The Group, through NTC, entered into a 10-year unsecured term loan facility with a third party local
bank for #650.0 million to finance its building refurbishment and/or expansion (see Note 10). The
principal payments will be made in 28 quarterly payments starting May 2022, As of December 31,
2020, total drawdown from the long-term loan facility amounted ta #380 million. The P300 million is
subject to 5.5% fixed rate and the P80 million is subject to annual repricing based on higher of 5.5%
or the prevailing one year benchmark rate or done rate of a liquid/active scourity, as agreed by the
parties, with the same tenor if benchmark rate is not reflective of market rate. plus interest spread.

In September 2021, the P80 million was converted 1o a 5.5% fixed rate.

The loan is subject to certain covenants including maintaining & maximum debt-to-equity (1:E)
structure ratic of 3:1. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, NTC has complied with its covenant
obligations, including maintaining the required D:E ratio.

Interest expense recognized in profit or loss in 2023, 2022 and 2021 amounted to B19.5 million,
P21.4 million and #21.3 million, respectively (Note 22),

Secured

In 2019, the Grouwp, through MMCM, entered into a ten-year secured long-term loan agreement with a
local bank for #1,500.0 million to refinance the construction of MMCM s school buildings and
facilities that were initially funded by short-term loans. MMCM made partial drawdowns against this
agreement amounting fo P680.0 million, #350.0 million and #470,0 million in January, June and July
2019, respectively. The loans were subject to prevailing borrower’s rate, plus a minimum spread of
0.50% per annum, but in no case lower than 4% per annum, subject to quarterly repricing. MMCM
shall repay the loan in 20 equal quarterly installments 1o stari at the end of 21" quarter from the initial
drawdown date. The loans were secured by the land and related improvements owned by MCMI with
cammying value of P2,385.0 million as of December 31, 2022, and suretyship of MESI (Note 10). The
loans were subject to certain positive and negative covenants such as the requirement for MCMI 1o
maintain its debt service cover ratio of at least 1,0 at all times and maximum D:E ratio of 75:25
starting on the third yeoar of the loan (January 2022) reckoned [rom initial drawdown date of January
2019,

In Apnl 2022, MMCM requested the bank to waive the compliance in D:E matio requirement in 2022.
In February 2023, the bank confirmed in writing the approval of the non-declaration of MMCM in
default for not meeting the required financial covenant for :E ratio for as long as MMOUM continues
to follow the exaisting payment term/schedule and other terms and conditions stipulated in the loan

agrecment.

As of December 31, 2022, the D:E ratio of 77:23 did not meet the required D:E ratio. Hence, MMCM
classified the loan from bank amounting to #1.5 billion as current liability. The loans were
reclassified from noncurrent to cument becayse the letter from the bank was issued after December
31, 2022, Although the loans are classificd as curment as of December 31, 2022, it will remain long-
term based on the terms of the loan agreement. The reclassification was done to comply with PFRS.

MMCM incurred debt issue cost amounting to 21 1.2 million which is being amortized over the loan
igrm of 10 yoars wsing the effective imerest method, The amoriization of debl issuc cosl amouniing Lo

P2.98 million in 2023 and #2.4 million in 2022 and 2021 were recorded as part of inlerest expense.
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In July 2023, the long-term loan amounting to 1.5 billion was fully paid.

I-HIICII'ESE expense including amortization of debt issue cost in 2023, 2022 and 202 lamounted 1o #59.7
million, P64.5 million and #63.6 million, respectively (Note 22).

Outstanding balance of secured long-term loans as of December 31 follows:

: 2023 2022
Principal P Bl 500,000
Unamortized debt issue cosi - {2.982)
P B1497 018
. Equity
Capital Stock

Capital stock consists of 2,000,000,000 authorized with 1,044,263,197 issued and outstanding
common shares as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, with a par value of #1 per share.

On Scptember 15, 1989, SEC approved the registration of the Group's entire authorized capital stock
with a Certificate of Permit 1o Sell Securitics authorizing the sale of 25 billion shares worth

B250.00 million. The Group's capital stock was listed in both Manila and Makati Stock Exchanges
on January 24, 1990, Actual number of shares initially listed is 15 billion at an offer price of

#0001 per share,

Below is the summary of the Group's eutstanding number of shares and holders of securitics as at
December 31, 2023:

Number

Mumber of halders

of shares of secuntics

Year registered as at year end

January 1, 2022 1.044.263,197 2,003

Add (deduct) movement . .

December 31, 2022 1.044. 263,197 20413
Add (deduct) movement - (6)

December 31, 2023 1.044,263,197 1,997

Retnined Eamings

In accordance with Revised Securities Regulation Code (SRC) Rule No. 68, the Parent Company's
retained carnings available for dividend declartion as st December 31, 2023 and 2022 amounted to
P1,627 8 million and P1,215.3 million, respectively. The Parent Company and its subsidiaries will
declare dividends out of their retsined eamings available for dividend declaration.

The retained camings account in the consolidated stalements of financial position includes the
accumulated equity in undistnbuted camings of consolidated subsidianes amounting

P6,512.53 million and P6,405.31 million as ai December 31, 2023 and 2022, respoctively, These are
not available for dividends until declarcd by the subsidiaries.



=30 -

The BOD declared cash dividends as follows:

2023 2022 2021

March 31, 2023,

(P, 19 per share) 1o stockholders

of record as of April 28, 2023,

payable on or before May 19,

023 FI9BA410 P =
Apml 1, 2022,

(0. 16 per share) 1o stockholders

of record as of April 29, 2022,

payable on or before May 20,

2022 - Pla7,082 P-
Movember 12, 2021,

(PO.239403 per share) to

stockholders of record as of

Movember 29, 2021, payable on

Becember 22, 7021 = - 250,044}
April 8, 2021,

{P0.06 per share to stockholders

of record as of May 7, 2021,

payable on May 31, 2021 - = 62 656

F198,410 PI67,082 P312.656_

On April 3, 2024, the BOD declared P198.41 million cash dividends (P0.19 per share) to stockholders
ol record as of May 3, 2024, payable on or before May 24, 2024,

ions with Mon-Con
Om May 9, 2019, the Parent Company acquired the 281,642 shares of MES] owned by HI,
representing 7% ownership in MESI. With this acquisition, MES] became a 100%-owned subsidiary
of the Parent Company. The P354.2 million excess of the consideration paid over the book value of
non-controlling interest acquired was recognized in equity by debiting “Equity reserve™.

In December 2019, the Parent Company acquired 2,743 additional shares of UNC from various
stockholders representing 24.99% ownership in UNC. With the acquisition, the Parent Company now
owned 8101% of UUINC, The #123.8 million excess of book value of non-controlling inicrest
acguired over the consideration paid was recognized in equity by credinng “Equity reserve™.

Capital M
The primary objective of the Group's capital mansgement is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit
rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value. The
Giroup considers its equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company as Capital.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital o sharcholders or issue new shargs. WNo changes were made in the
objectives, palicies or processes during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,

As al December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group is not subject to extomally imposed capital

requirements except for the long-term loans of NTC and MCMM that are subject to dobt to equity
ratio requirement {Note 17).
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ThE_Gn:lupll monitors capital using a debt-to-equity ratio, which is total liahilities divided by total
equity attributable to equity holders of Parent Company, The Group's palicy is to keep the debt-1o-
equity ratio not to exceed 2:1.

- 2023 2022
Liabilities (a} B4, 879,779 B4.961,294
Equity (b) : 14,758,083 12,441,445
Deb t-to-equity ratio (a'h) 0A3:1.00 0.40: | .00

19, Revenuoe from Contracts with Customers
Revenue from schools and related operations consists of*
2023 a2 20321
Tuitien and other matriculation
fees B4 418,998 B4 032 066 B3.570,963
Less: Scholarship grants and
digcounts (198.991) (325,742) (289,692)
4,220,007 3.807.224 3,281,271
Other student related income and
auxiliary scrvices 271,419 137,722 69,796
#4.491.426 #3944 946 P3.351.067

Ohther student related income and auxiliary services income consists of seminar fees and other
student-related income which are other than paviment for wition fees. These include, but net limited
Lo, entrance examination fces, exit examination fees, oral examination fees, graduation fees,
certification of grades, good moral and other school credentials, photocopying printing, and bookstore
sales, among others.

Revenue from tuition and other matriculation fees are recognized over time and for other student related
income and auxilisry services income, the revenue is recognized over time or at 8 point in time.

For the Group's receivables and contract liabilities, these are disclosed in Notes 8 and 14, respectively.

20,

Cost of Schools and Related Operations

Cost of schools and related operations sccount consists of:

2023 2022 2021
Personnc] expenses (Mote 24) B1,218,803 B1,086,585 B1.032,944
Depreciation and amonization 401,620 338,315 344 366
Student-related expenses 200,929 | 58,725 70,926
Banagement and other
professional focs
(MNote 15) 174,886 142 k3 91,716

(Earweard)
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023 2022 2021
Periedicals PI65,341 £139,507 P94 060
IT expense — software license 155,357 98,623 79,620
Litilities 126,976 B2 589 50,131
Advertising 67,640 45,019 30,388
Repairs and maintenance 49,135 34.443 24,629
Tuools and library books
(Motes 10 and 13) 40,495 27,007 15,992
Accreditation cost 40,130 31,268 23,077
Reszarch and development fund 38 2R9 20,403 19,870
Insurance 21,035 13,886 10,325
Seminar 12,614 11,150 1621
Taxes and licenses 5,113 7.297 T.978
Office supplies 7,294 3,756 2,432
Transportation and travel 6.926 4,134 1,150
Fent (Note 31) 6,872 2 6ER 265
Labaratory supplics 6,739 3,152 L6001
Entertainment, amusement and
recreation 1,576 1,775 1,124
Mizcellaneous 6,217 4,975 4,364
Total P1,758.087 #£2,2549,172 P1.914. 579

Detanls of depreciation and amortization follows:

2023 2022 2021

Diepreciation (Mote 10) B445,067 P381.276 B3ia2 238
Depreciation — ROL! assers

(Mote 31) 1420 54,167 54,832

Amoriization — Student

relationship (Note &) 4,727 33,002 35,0564

Amartization (Note 13) 6,113 6,802 4551

B507,327 B475,307 P456,685

b. Depreciation and amortization expenses as funetion of expense follows:

2023 232 2021

Cost of schools and related
operations B353.081 P2R6,48] B292.353

Cost of schools and related

operations — RO asseis

(MNote 311 48,538 51,434 52,013
401,620 338,315 344, 366

Creneral and administrative
gxpenges {MNote 21) 105,707 1 36,0402 112,319
Fiﬂ'fgz': B4TS,307 P436,685
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21. General and Administrative Expenses

This account consists of:

2023 2022 2021
Management and other
professional fees
(Mate 15) B2d46,822 BITE 026 F136,95]
Personne] expenses {Note 24) 224,339 203,203 195,388
Advertising 124,360 SR123 40,147
Depreciation and amortization
(Note 20) 105,707 136,992 112,319
Provisions for ECL (Note §) 43,997 120 408 114,229
Provision for impairment (MNote &) 3,77 32,221 8543
Taxes and licenses 25226 25,805 15442
Utilities 13673 19,533 12,839
Repairs and mamtenance 14,355 10,670 11,876
Membeship fees and ducs 14,156 7.844 7,663
Transportation and travel 11,135 4,400 2,330
IT expensc — software license 0885 2.353 2,699
Seminar [ o 3,504 4,369
[msurance 6,176 4,844 >, 944
Donations 5,580 3.123 1877
Office supplies 3919 2,982 773
Entertainment, amusement, and
recreation 3,155 3,571 2326
Commission 3262 3,148 3184
Rent (Note 31) 2,600 217 180
Investor relations 1,605 1,792 5.998
Miscellancous 69,986 38,193 31424
P976,077 Pa61.012 £719,501

Management and other professional fees consist of property management feds, janitorial and security
sorvice fees, lawyers, payroll specialisis and other professional service fees (Note 15).

Miscellaneous expense includes dues and subscriptions, training materials, periodicals, provisions,
bank charpes, and other contracted services, among others.

21, Interest Income, Interest and Other Finanee Charges

The Group’s interest income consists of interest from the following sources;

2023 2022 2021
Cazh in banks and cash
eguivalents {Nate 71 B335 RI0O023 AT
Advances to officers and
emplovees (Mote #) 137 B2 [42
#63,488 F20,105 P6,192
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The Group’s interest and other financing charges consist of interest on the following:

2023 2022 202]
Short-term loans (Maote 16} B39.938 #3747 P&, 707
Long-term loans (Nate 17) 79,278 85,917 £4.870
Interest expense on lease
liabilities
(Mote 31) 29,808 23,629 29 858
= F149,024 P113.,293 B121,415
23, Income Tax
Benefit from (provision for) income tay consists of
2023 2022 2021
Current B43,577 (P3449) Blag33=
Deferred 1,458 8,597 13,552
B45,015 B5 148 PID,3T5
"D to CREATE impact
The reconciliation of statutory tax rates to effective income tax rates follows:
2023 2022 2021
Income before income tax at
statutory rate 25.00% 25.00% 25.00%
Add (deduct) reconciling items:
Difference in income tax rate (15.59) (22.51) (23.55)
Others (3.04) {3.15) {6.24)
6.37% {66%0) (4. 79%)

MESI, MHSSI, MMCL, MMCM, UNC, NTC and APEC are educational institutions which are
subject to a lower or preferential income tax rate of 10% until June 2020, 1% thercalter until June

2023 and 10% starting July 2023,

Pursuant 1o Republic Act (RA) No. 11534, otherwise known as the “Corporate Recovery and Tax
Incentives for Enterprises (CREATE)" Act, the following changes in tax rates became effective on
July 1, 2023 implemented through Revenue Memorandum Circular (RMC) 69-2023;

*  MCIT rate is reveried to 2% of gross income which was previously reduced from 2% 1o 1%

effective July 1, 2020 to June 30, 2023

* Preferential income tax rate for proprietary educational institutions which are nonprofit is
reveried to 10% which was previously reduced from 10% to 1% effective July 1, 2020 to June 30,

2023

Consequently, the Parent Company and Schools recognized provision for current income tax using
the effective MCIT/preferential income tax rate of 1.5%/5,5% in 2023 in accordance with RMC 69-

2023,



